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ARGUMENT 

 

I. UNDER ICWA IT IS PROPER FOR THIS COURT TO 

 CONSIDER MOTHER’S ARGUMENTS ON APPEAL 

 

 The State argues that Mother did not preserve her right to appeal, 

because she did not argue for plain error review, and because her attorney at 

trial did not make objections. (State’s Br. at 21-22.) However, according to 

ICWA, any court of competent jurisdiction may be petitioned upon showing 

that either sections 1911, 1912, or 1913 have been violated. 25 U.S.C. § 

1914. The entire purpose of this appeal is that the State did not comply with 

ICWA, at Mother’s termination hearing. In Mother’s Opening Brief, she 

specifically cited and used content from 25 U.S.C. § 1914. (Appellant’s 

Opening Br. 35.) While not explicitly cited, sections 1911, 1912, and 1913 

all concern requirements of ICWA, such as active efforts requirements, 

higher standards of proof, and requirements for the testimony of the ICWA 

qualified expert witness. Mother is arguing that because there was no 

determination of whether or not ICWA applied, as required by ICWA, she 

was denied these requirements at her second termination hearing.  

 II. THE TRIBE, NOT THE PARENTS, DETERMINE WHETHER 

 A CHILD IS AN ‘INDIAN CHILD’ UNDER ICWA 

 

 Mother concedes she cited the 2016 regulations, which did not go into 

effect until December 12, 2016, three weeks after Mother’s termination 
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hearing. However, the current regulations have not changed the requirement 

of the 2015 guidelines, or the 1979 guidelines, that if the District Court has 

reason to know an Indian child may be involved in an involuntary child 

custody proceeding, it must treat that child as an Indian child “unless and 

until it is determined that the child is not an Indian child.” 80 Fed. Reg. 

10146, 10152 (Feb. 25, 2015), 44 Fed. Reg. 67584, 67586 (Nov., 29, 1979), 

In the Matter of A.G., 2005 MT 81,¶¶13-14, 326 Mont. 403, 109 P.3d 756. 

The guidelines regarding who determines whether or not a child is an Indian 

child also remained the same, meaning that confirmation of a child’s status 

as an Indian child needs to come from the Tribe. 80 Fed. Reg. 10146, 10152 

(Feb., 2015), 44 Fed. Reg. 67584, 67586 (Nov., 29, 1979), In the Matter of 

A.G., at ¶¶13-14. 

 The State argues that Mother stipulated to the fact that ICWA did not 

apply in L.D.’s case. The State believes Mother did so by stating she tried to 

enroll L.D. with the Rocky Boy Chippewa Cree Tribe (the Tribe), and the 

Tribe told Mother that L.D. did not meet the blood quantum requirement. 

(State’s Br. 20-21, 2/11/14 Hearing Transcr. at 10.) However, it is clear from 

the record that the Department and District Court did not take Mother’s 

explanation about L.D.’s eligibility for enrollment to mean ICWA did not 

apply. At the conclusion of the Show Cause hearing, counsel for the 
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Department stated, “Of course, in an abundance of caution, if there's ever 

any indication that a case might be ICWA, we choose to file it as ICWA” 

and “CFS will still operate as though this is an ICWA case and file 

appropriate documentation if she is not enrollable. But as of now they 

believe L.D. might qualify as an Indian child.” (2/11/4 Hearing Tr. at 10-11.) 

This “appropriate documentation” was never filed, and a determination by 

the Tribe was never made.  

 Additional evidence that the Department and District Court continued 

to treat L.D. as an Indian child, despite Mother’s statements at the Show 

Cause about L.D.’s eligibility for enrollment, was the continued presence of 

ICWA Qualified Expert Witness (QEW) testimony as to both L.D. and A.O. 

at subsequent hearings, filings with L.D.’s cause number that continued to 

maintain that the case fell under ICWA, the fact Father to L.D.’s parental 

rights were terminated following ICWA, and the fact that the first 

termination hearing on Mother’s parental rights was held pursuant to higher 

standards of proof under ICWA. All these facts show the State’s argument 

that Mother’s statements at the Show Cause hearing should be seen as a 

stipulation that ICWA did not apply were, in fact, not taken that way by the 

Department or District Court who continued to proceed as though ICWA 

governed the case.  



APPELLANT’S REPLY BRIEF 4 

 The State’s assertion that a parent can unequivocally make the 

determination of whether the child is an Indian child, when there is reason to 

believe the child is an Indian child (such as having a sibling who is an Indian 

child or a biological parent who is a tribal member, as in this case) without 

input from the Tribe, is contrary to ICWA and the reasons behind its 

implementation. The Tribe is who has the interest in Indian children and is 

the sole determinate of whether or not a child qualifies as an Indian child. In 

the Matter of A.G., at ¶13. Moreover, the State’s argument that if two cases 

are consolidated and heard together there is no way to differentiate the cases 

in terms of whether or not ICWA applies to an individual child is in no way 

compelling. L.D. and A.O. had different cause numbers with each pleading 

filed under that specific cause number. If, as the State asserts, it was 

determined at some point that ICWA did not apply to L.D.’s case then it 

should have been reflected in the pleadings filed under L.D.’s cause number. 

Instead, the pleadings continued to list ICWA as being applicable to the case 

and without a bifurcation of the hearings in order to apply ICWA to A.O.’s 

case through QEW and not to L.D.’s case. This Department continued to list 

L.D. as an Indian child in its pleadings, including in Termination Petition II. 

(D.C. Doc. 127.) 
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 The Tribe, at no point during the entire proceeding made a 

determination of L.D.’s status as an Indian Child. The State, in referencing a 

document unavailable to Mother’s review of the record, points out that by 

July of 2015, six months following the Show Cause Hearing, the Tribe “had 

not officially responded to the request for verification of L.D.’s status as an 

Indian child.” (State’s Br. at 7.) No such response was filed or appears in the 

record following this date. Because of this non-response, the Department 

and the District Court continued to apply ICWA to proceedings involving 

L.D. to the extent that the termination proceedings in June of 2016 involving 

Mother’s rights to L.D. were held under the heightened standards of ICWA. 

 Mother’s stipulation to waive QEW testimony at Show Cause Hearing 

was a stipulation to waive procedure, and cannot be seen as a waiver of the 

application of ICWA to the L.D.’s case, because it is not Mother’s right to 

waive the application of ICWA. The Court noted that the Department would 

still be investigating whether or not ICWA applied and had not yet 

determined it did not. (2/11/14 Hearing Transcr. at 11.) Instead the District 

Court asked whether the parties objected to waiving the requirement of 

QEW testimony at the Show Cause Hearing, while the issue of whether or 

not ICWA applied would be settled later after the Tribe had made its 

determination about L.D.’s status. (2/11/14 Hearing Transcr. at 11.) The 
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State’s assertion, that a parent’s waiver of QEW testimony at a hearing can 

constitute a stipulation to not apply ICWA to a case that may involve an 

Indian child, is without merit and a dangerous proposition. 

III. MOTHER’S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW WAS 

 VIOLATED. 

 

 Mother reasserts her argument from her Opening Brief that her right 

to fundamentally fair procedures in Dependency-Neglect cases was violated.  

 The State argues that Mother had notice that ICWA did not apply to 

L.D.’s case because she had made statements about L.D.’s eligibility of 

enrollment at the Show Cause Hearing. (State’s Br. at 25-26.) Thus, the 

State argues, Mother was not deprived of her Due Process right when 

Termination Petition II stated L.D. was an Indian child and ICWA applied to 

her case. This argument is not persuasive, for reasons already detailed in the 

Reply Brief about how the Department and the District Court actually acted 

upon those statements. No other party took Mother’s comments about L.D.’s 

status as an Indian child as evidence that L.D. did not meet the definition of 

an Indian child under ICWA. In fact, both petitions to terminate Mother’s 

rights stated ICWA applied to L.D. Because of this, Mother was not 

provided proper notice of the legal processes she was facing. Further, Father, 

just as Mother did, made statements at the Show Cause hearing about his 

understanding of L.D.’s eligibility for enrollment. However, Father’s 
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statements were not considered as his stipulation that ICWA did not apply to 

L.D.’s case. This is made clear by the fact that the Department moved to 

terminate Father’s rights pursuant to ICWA and that the District Court used 

the heightened standards of proof under ICWA in the order terminating his 

parental rights. 

 The State contends that Mother’s argument, namely that she suffered 

a due process violation because Father’s rights were terminated under 

ICWA’s heightened standards of proof while hers were not, is 

“disingenuous” because Mother “knew” that ICWA did not apply. (State’s 

Br. at 27.) The State again fails to recognize this is not Mother’s 

determination to make. Nor is it unreasonable that after two years of ICWA 

applying to proceedings involving L.D., Mother relied on the fact ICWA did 

apply despite what she may have previously believed about L.D.’s status of 

enrollment. Furthermore, because ICWA attaches to the child and not the 

parent, a proceeding in which one parent’s rights are litigated under ICWA 

and one parent’s are not is fundamentally unfair and subject to scrutiny. In 

no way is arguing to uphold this Court’s ruling that parents are guaranteed 

fundamental fairness in proceedings involving their constitutional right to 

parent “disingenuous.” 
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 The State also asserts Mother made an equal protection argument for 

the first time on appeal, when she did not. (State’s Br. at 27-28.) The issue 

on appeal is whether Mother’s right to fundamentally fair procedures in 

dependency-neglect proceedings was violated. 

IV. APPELLANT’S APPEAL IS NOT MOOT AND WITHOUT 

 REMEDY. 

 

 The State erroneously argues that Mother’s appeal has no errors, 

which a reversal could remedy. (State’s Br. at 29.) As stated above and in 

Mother’s Opening Brief the error in this case is clear: there was never a 

proper determination of whether or not L.D. was an Indian child and, as a 

result, Mother’s right to due process was violated. Because the Tribe did not 

provide an answer as to whether L.D. was an Indian child, the proper 

remedy here is to allow the Tribe to make the determination about whether 

or not L.D. qualifies as an Indian child in order to properly follow federal 

law. Until that determination is made, Federal law has been violated. 

Without that determination, it is unclear as to what standard for termination 

should have applied, either beyond a reasonable doubt for ICWA cases, or 

through clear and convincing evidence (non-ICWA cases).  

CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated above, and in Mother’s Opening Brief, Mother 

respectfully requests that this Court reverse the District Courts ruling. 
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Respectfully submitted this 20th day of December, 2017. 

     By: /s/ Shannon Hathaway 

           Shannon Hathaway 

                   

       

     SHANNON HATHAWAY 

     MONTANA LEGAL JUSTICE, PLLC 

     521 N. Orange St. 

     Missoula, MT  59802 
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